

The Impact of Advance Organizers in Virtual Classrooms on the Development of Integrated Science Process Skills

Abstract

Unlike virtual classrooms that have received extensive research attention in both academic and practical contexts because of their ability to improve students' outcomes, the use of advance organizers are still in need for more research to prove their efficacy in fulfilling expected learning outcomes in these virtual classrooms. Hence, the present study aims to identify the impact of using such organizers in virtual classrooms on the development of students' integrated science process skills. It was applied to 64 students who were studying for their Master's degree in the vocational education techniques in the "Research Project" course. Participants were randomly divided into two equal experimental groups with 32 students in each. An assessment card of five main domains was used to evaluate students' skills in research procedural definition, identification and control of the research variables, questions and/or hypotheses, procedures and experimentation besides research interpretation of the results. Data analysis showed that the use of advance organizers in virtual classes was of great effect on the development of participants' integrated science process skills because skills of students in the first experimental group were better mastered than the skills of their peers in the second experimental group in accordance with the whole subskills in the five domains.

Keywords: *Virtual Classrooms; Advance Organizers; Integrative Science; Integrative Science Processes Skills; Covid-19*

Introduction

In many nations affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, the situation in higher education institutions has changed [1]. Therefore, students and teachers are recommended to switch to online learning instead of face-to-face classes as usually occurs at various educational institutions [2]. One type of this online learning is the virtual classroom that shares some characteristics with ordinary or traditional classrooms [2, 3] such as flexibility, practicality, and accessibility to learning environments that are not limited by time or place [4, 5]. Najran University in Saudi Arabia, as well as other educational institutions in other countries, could transfer to online learning and conduct virtual classrooms by providing its staff with an educational platform known as 'Blackboard', a system that enabled both students and faculty members to restore the whole content and requirements of any academic course. Synchronous and asynchronous discussions are provided through this system in addition to the ability to conduct the electronic tests and utilize many multimedia files [6]. Moreover, virtual classes are allowed on this Blackboard system as one tool of e-learning.

Virtual classrooms are electronic classrooms that can be expanded in time, space, and content [7, 8]. They offer various learning environments that enable video and audio broadcasts besides discussion boards [9]. They are virtual because they can overcome spatial constraints where learners can attend from different locations without time constraints. One of the main characteristics of virtual classrooms is the fact that virtual sessions can be recorded in advance and then delivered to students who can watch them everywhere at their own pace and time [10, 11]. Another characteristic of

Comment[Author1]: Good opening rationale.

Comment[Author2]: What are you referring to when you say 'it was' - the study or organisers?

Comment[Author3]: This abstract is much clearer than the previous version. I feel like I know what the research is about, how the study was accomplished, and what its outcomes were.

Comment[Author4]: I would say 'have been' because advice on online learning has since been rescinded in many locales.

Deleted[Author]: I

Deleted[Author]: that

Deleted[Author]: of

Comment[Author5]: I've made a few minor grammatical corrections here and throughout, but generally it's improved on the last reading.

Deleted[Author]: b

Comment[Author6]: The use of the term 'expanded' here is a little confusing with reference to time and space, as this makes it sound as though it they are physical rather than virtual.

virtual classrooms is the fact that they are used in the educational process to cancel any geographical barriers where students can enter the class and record the whole session. Moreover, they reduce students' anxiety, increase their motivation, and more importantly improve their communication and collaboration [12, 13].

On other hand, the term 'advance organizers' was first used by Ausubel in the 1960s [12]. They represent the introductory material to be presented to learners before the teaching content [14]. They are used to familiarize students with new concepts and connections between them before beginning integrating new knowledge to their prior information [15, 16]. In brief, advance organizers are used when asking students to recall and combine existing knowledge with new information offered in various learning situations [17]. An advanced organizer is mainly used to activate the learner's prior knowledge to better understand its similarity to new information under study [18]. Furthermore, it is used to stimulate students to practice the learning task by creating meaning for them because its use can clarify the learning objective and provide a context to motivate the learner to learn how to accomplish the task [19]. The use of advance organizers provides learners with commendable advantages that can positively influence students' acquisition of concepts [20] and involves a set of procedures starting with providing previous knowledge, establishing clear links between prior and new knowledge, teaching new vocabulary in the same context, and highlighting key vocabulary [21].

Science process skills, the present study aims to test its improvement through the use of advanced organizers in virtual classrooms, are certain potentials used to enable students to think as scientists and researchers while conducting their research [22-24]. They are of two basic models, i.e. basic skills and skills of integrative science processes. Basic skills model includes prediction, measurement, classification, and observation while integrative science processes model involves procedural definition, variables' identification and control, research questions and hypotheses, procedures and experimentation, and lastly interpretation of results [25]. Students' empowerment in these integrated science process skills is very important because they help students easily look for new information, solve problems in different situations, and gain knowledge from practice [26]. Being skillful in such skills, a student can process and build any scientific information and meanwhile understand the nature of the kind of science he is studying [27, 28]. Apart from the various ways and means to access scientific information, advance organizers help students to think scientifically [29-31]. In addition, at Najran University, many academic courses primarily depend on integrated science process skills. One of these courses is the "Research Project" course that assumes that fulfilling students' needs could be through developing these integrated science process skills.

Review of Related Literature

Empirical studies in accordance with the effect of using advance organizers in classrooms, as an approach of providing educational materials to learners, have proved that they increase academic achievement, enhance ability to learn, and lead to better retention of the learnt materials [32-34]. For example, The Babaei, Izadpanah [35] concluded that advance organizers use was effective in improving students' listening comprehension. Van der Meij [14] argued that advance organizers integrated in educational videos were effective in developing students' programming skills. Besides, Nevisi, Hosseinpour [36] revealed an effect of using advance organizers in developing students' ability to write an English abstract. Susan and Oche [37],

Comment[Author7]: A good summary of virtual classrooms and their advantages.

Comment[Author8]: I wouldn't say 'on the other hand' as it sounds as though it contradicts what you've previously said, whereas it is additional to it.

Deleted[Author]: of

Deleted[Author]: him

Comment[Author9]: Good summary of AOs. There is plenty of clear and succinct explanation of necessary background information.

Comment[Author10]: Good setup here as to why it is relevant to study this course at Najran.

Comment[Author11]: When referring to more than two authors, you typically want to say 'Babaei, et al.' unless otherwise specified in the in-house referencing rules. Some will use 'Smith, Jones, Abed, and Chang' in the first instance, and then 'Smith, et al.' after that, so just check the PeerJ's guidance on in-text citations.

Comment[Author12]: I've not altered this here, but it is convention to use present tense when referring to the claims of an academic paper. So it would be 'Smith concludes' or 'Jones argues'. Using past tense is not technically incorrect. I haven't corrected it here, however, as it's consistent throughout and it's really your decision.

revealed an impact of using such organizers in developing students' attitude towards learning biology.

With regard to the effectiveness of other methods and strategies in developing the skills of integrative science processes, many studies were conducted. Sharma [38] for instance, concluded that the seven-stage educational model (7E) was effective in developing the skills of integrative science processes for grade nine students. Harahap, Nasution [39] supported the effect of blended learning approach in fostering learners' science process abilities during plant tissue culture. Moreover, Prayitno, Corebima [40] emphasized the fact that inquiry-based learning was effective in improving 7th graders' science process skills.

In light of these findings, it can be argued that the use of advance organizers developed in the context of virtual classrooms may improve integrated science process skills of students enrolled in "Research Project" course. Therefore, the present study aims to identify the effect of using advance organizers in virtual classrooms on developing students' integrated science process skills, i.e. Procedural definition, research variables define and adjustment, research questions and assignments, procedures and experimentation, and results interpretation. That is, it aims to answer the following main question:

RQ: How effective is using advance organizers in virtual classrooms in developing students' integrated science process skills (i.e. procedural definition, research variables define and adjustment, research questions and assignments, procedures and experimentation, and results interpretation), and in developing these skills as a whole?

Methodology

Research Methods

In the present study, multi-dimensional research and data collection approaches are adopted to evaluate participant students' research plans. In order to allow comparison of evidence from multiple streams in a pragmatic approach to empirical research across groups of respondents, qualitative and quantitative approaches were integrated into this study [41, 42] and mainly to fully answer the main question of the present study. Quantitative approach of data analysis is better used with data that can be examined and quantified for correlations with other sets of data [43]. This approach is considered appropriate for the use of Likert's five-point scale for students' scores on each subskill of the Integrated Scientific Process skills Evaluation Card where scores are used to compare the level of skills of participants in both groups. Similarly, a qualitative approach is used because it can yield more personalized and detailed data regarding experience [43]. It is fit for the content analysis of participants' research plans in both groups.

Data Collection

An assessment card of five domains was designed and used to evaluate students' integrated science process skills, (Appendix A), after reviewing related educational literature and previous studies such as Sharma [38], Elfeky and Elbyaly [44], Hernawati, Amin [45], Juhji and Nuangchalerm [46], Elfeky and Elbyaly [47]. To confirm its reliability, it was offered to a jury of experts and specialists who were faculties at Najran University in the fields of educational technology, curriculum and instruction and psychology. Once they accepted the task, they were requested to express their views with regard to the card's sub-skills or phrases appropriateness to

Comment[Author13]: This is a good overview of the literature and examples of some of its claims. However, I would consider extending it and making clear where more research is needed in relation to your study.

Deleted[Author]: many

Comment[Author14]: How are these other methods and strategies related back to this research? Do you test AOs against them? Make it clear why this is relevant to the study's focus. If it isn't, I wouldn't include it in a paper of this length.

Comment[Author15]: Any reason to doubt that they might improve ISPS? If not, why conduct the study? You need to show that there is still work to be done to demonstrate their effectiveness. It might be, for instance, that too little research has been carried out in KSA to assume that AOs will improve ISPS within this context, or perhaps AO research has focused on another area other than ISPS. This will give you a stronger rationale and make the study's contribution more apparent.

Deleted[Author]: ,

Deleted[Author]: P

Comment[Author16]: RQ is a little wordy but it works.

Deleted[Author]: ,

Comment[Author17]: I would just say 'to answer its research question'.

Comment[Author18]: 'A quantitative approach to data analysis...' would be better.

Comment[Author19]: I would add that using both quantitative and qualitative approach - a 'mixed-methods' approach - can be useful for triangulation of results also, strengthening the validity of research findings.

measure each domain that stands for one skill of the integrated science processes. Besides, they were requested to check the phrases' clarity and soundness of their linguistic formulation, and they were asked to add any items or delete inappropriate ones. Thus, the final version of the card consisted of five main domains i.e. procedural definition domain with five subskills or phrases, study variables identification and control domain with five subskills, research questions and hypotheses domain with six subskills, procedures and experimentation domain with six subskills, and interpretation of results domain with four subskills. Likert's five-point scale was used beginning from 1=Very little to 5= Very much for each domain's subskill or phrase. Moreover, Cronbach's Alpha was used to check the card's internal consistency. Stability of the scorecard was verified by applying it to a pilot sample of 30 students who were excluded of the study. Stability coefficient was (0.88) for the card as a whole, indicating that it was fit for the study aims and for evaluating the students' final research plans. Three specialists and impartial faculty members were requested to evaluate each final product of every participant. Once evaluation was done, the three scores of each student were accounted for to work out the average score of each participant.

Comment[Author20]: Use 'additionally' instead.

Comment[Author21]: Is there a table of these domains and subskills available?

Study Sample

Sixty-four students who were studying for their Master's degree in vocational education techniques participated in the present study. They were all enrolled in a "Research Project" academic course provided by Najran University in Saudi Arabia. They were all male students; their average age was 23 years old with a standard deviation about 2.48. Participant students were divided into two experimental groups, i.e. first and second experimental groups. The first experimental group learnt the course via the use of advance organizers in virtual classrooms while the second experimental group studied the course via virtual classrooms without using any advance organizers.

Comment[Author22]: Really thorough overview of how your research instruments were developed.

Deleted[Author]:

Comment[Author23]: Nice to have this overview of the sample. One thing I'd add is how you came by this sample. How were the students identified and sampled (i.e., was it purposive, randomised, etc.)?

Deleted[Author]: T.

Deleted[Author]: as

Deleted[Author]: i

Data Analysis

ANOVA was used to evaluate students' homogeneity before the beginning of the experiment, i.e. pre-evaluation stage. At the end of the course, t-test for independent samples were used to compare the means of students' scores in both groups. In addition, thematic analysis was used to identify themes raised across a text and to generate results and findings [43].

Comment[Author24]: I'm a little confused as to what thematic analysis is applied to here. You mention collecting quantitative data using a Likert scale to generate the study's quantitative data, but what is the nature of the qualitative data and how was it collected? Is it open-ended questionnaire responses, interview data, observational data? How is it used to support or complement the quantitative analysis? Moreover, you need to say slightly more about your process of thematic analysis. Was the coding deductive or inductive, for example? Did you follow a specific approach or model for thematic analysis (e.g., Braun & Clarke)? We need to see much more on this.

Ethical Considerations

The Najran University Deanship of Scientific Research review board approved conducting the present study in its decision No.:444-45-22144-DS. Then all participants were informed about the main objective of the present study during the orientation meeting at the beginning of the course. Furthermore, participants who agreed to take part in the study were requested to submit their written consent electronically via the blackboard system. Moreover, it is worth mentioning that methods used in this investigation followed the guidelines set forth in the Helsinki Declaration.

Pre-Assessment of Participants' Science Integrated Process Skills

At the beginning of the first week of the course (Sunday), each participant was informed via an advertisement on the university's blackboard system to submit a complete research plan for the topic chosen at the end of the week (Saturday).

Deleted[Author]: s

Comment[Author25]: Try and keep capitalisation of 'blackboard' consistent throughout.

Keeping in mind that research plan should involve research procedural definition, variable identification and control, questions and hypotheses, procedures and experimentation, and finally an interpretation of the results. An independent evaluator who was a faculty member at the college of education evaluated the whole research plan, using the developed evaluation card. All scores were collected and processed using ANOVA. Results are presented in table 1.

Comment[Author26]: I'd reword this sentence as it doesn't read quite right. Starting with 'keeping in mind', makes it read as though that you have a further point to make about the research plan.

Table 1.

Results in table (1) show that the differences between the mean scores of students in both experimental groups regarding their integrated science process skills in the pre-application card were not statistically significant ($\alpha \leq 0.05$). In other words, participant students' skills in accordance with the research plan's five main domains were homogeneous. All of them were having equal abilities of integrative science process skills before being exposed to the experiment.

Deleted[Author]: s

Comment[Author27]: I've received these attached tables and figures.

Experimental Processing Teaching Material

Before delivering the course content to students, it was organized into ten lectures to discuss the main research plan domains, i.e. procedural definition, variables identification and control, questions and hypotheses, procedures and experimentation, and interpretation of results. To fully fulfill the main objectives of the present study, many Instructional Design models were reviewed to come up with a set of indicative steps to follow while designing and producing these lectures. In addition, learners' characteristics were accounted for, too. After that, synchronous virtual classes were used to deliver each lecture to students in both experimental groups using the Collaborate Ultra Experience LTI application developed during the emergence of Covid-19 pandemic and integrated within Blackboard e-learning management system by the Deanship of Information Technologies at Najran University. In fact, such an application can be seen as a unique addition to university instructors who use Blackboard system because it enabled them to hold virtual meetings, live lectures, and video conferencing. Besides this, it provided them with a chat room, live audio and video broadcasting, whiteboard, application sharing, synchronous web browsing, and feedback. Thus, students in the first experimental group studied the course content through the use of virtual classrooms using advance organizers, while students in the second experimental group learnt the content via the use of virtual classrooms only without using any advance organizers.

Comment[Author28]: Just to clarify, you're stating that the difference between the groups and within them is not statistically significant, meaning they are comparable. This reads as though you're saying that individual students all have equivalent ISPS, which I presume is not what you're saying.

Advance organizers were provided to students in the first experimental group via virtual classrooms at the beginning of each lecture before starting in-detail lesson explanation and discussion via virtual classrooms. Specifically, expository advance organizers were utilized to give students some foundational information to form an idea about each newly introduced topic. Moreover, a more official concept map was used to present some crucial components of every new topic. Thus, new concepts were presented in a clearer picture, their origins, definition, and main characteristics. Fig.1 presents a comparison between both experimental groups in accordance with the use of advance organizers.

Comment[Author29]: This may be stated elsewhere, but I'd just restate here how many lectures for each group were undertaken as part of the experiment.

Figure 1.

Comment[Author30]: The procedures for the lesson here are pretty clearly set out.

Results

Once the experiment ended by the end of the academic semester, dimensional arithmetic mean scores of participant students in both experimental groups regarding

their integrated science process skills, as measured by the developed evaluation card, were extracted, and then modified gain ratio was calculated. T-tests for independent samples were used to compare the modified gain ratios of students in both groups.

Deleted[Author]: .

Table 2.

Deleted[Author]: as

Table (2) reveals that the t. value for the difference between the modified gain ratios of participants in both groups regarding the skills of the procedural definition domain was (4.40). It shows that the mean score of students in the first experimental group was (M=13.42), while it was (M=11.02) for peers in the second experimental group. That is, there was a statistically significant difference between participants in both groups regarding their skills in the procedural definition in favor of first experimental group students. This difference ($p = 0.013 < 0.05$) indicates that learners in the first experimental group who studied the course via virtual classes with the use of advance organizers outperformed their peers in the second experimental group who studied the course through virtual classes without the use of advance organizers.

To check the soundness of this result, Eta Square (η^2) was used to make sure of the effect size of the virtual classes where advance organizers are used in the procedural definition skills of students in the first experimental group. Findings showed that η^2 calculated significance was (0.361). To put it in different words, there was a significant effect of using advance organizers in virtual classrooms on the development of students' skills in the procedural definition. Additionally, qualitative analysis of the learners' research proposals' content proved that participants in the first group were more worthy in considering criteria for research title's good formulation, writing the main question the research will address, documenting resources and references, and formulating the phenomena and their conditions or terms associated with the result and its causes. In addition, participants in the first group were more worthy in identifying research population in comparison with their peers' ability in the second group.

Comment[Author31]: This is a sound conclusion. I don't feel you are overstating it here - it is a significant difference.

With regard to participants' skills in variables identification and control domain, table (2) indicates that the t. value for the difference between the modified gain ratios of participants in both groups regarding the skills of variables identification and control domain was (5.948). It shows that the mean score of students in the first experimental group was (M=4.21), while it was (M=11.63) for peers in the second experimental group. That is, there was a statistically significant difference between participants in both groups regarding their skills in variable identification and control in favor of first experimental group students. This difference ($p = 0.021 < 0.05$) indicates that learners in the first experimental group who studied the course via virtual classes with the use of advance organizers outperformed their peers in the second experimental group who studied the course through virtual classes without the use of advance organizers..

Comment[Author32]: This is the first point at which I'm understanding that the qualitative data consisted of learners' research proposals. We need to see much more about this before we can evaluate whether your methods of analysis and conclusions are correct. Instinctively, however, I can't envisage how thematic analysis - which elicits common or emphatic themes from text - could be used to judge the value of a research proposal. I would suggest that the qualitative analysis either needs to be described in far more detail, rethought of in terms of its data and methods, or excluded altogether. As it stands now, the way it is presented detracts from rather than contributes to the quality of the paper.

To check the validity of this result, Eta Square (η^2) was used to make sure of the effect size of the virtual classes where advance organizers are used in variables identification and control skills of students in the first experimental group. Findings showed that η^2 calculated significance was (0.385). To say it differently, there was a significant effect of using advance organizers in virtual classrooms on the development of students' skills in variables identification and control. In addition, qualitative analysis of the learners' research proposals' content proved that participants in the first group were more worthy in identifying persistent, independent and dependent variables, identifying affecting variables, controlling fixed variables, and

highlighting conditions for variables' fixing and not fixing; in comparison with their peers' ability in the second group.

Results regarding participants' skills in writing the research questions and hypotheses domain table 2 shows that the t. value for the difference between the modified gain ratios of participants in both groups regarding the skills of stating the research questions and hypotheses domain was (6.90). It shows that the mean score of students in the first experimental group was (M=18.02), whereas it was (M=15.16) for peers in the second experimental group. That is, there was a statistically significant difference between participants in both groups regarding their skills in stating the research questions and hypotheses in favor of first experimental group students. This difference ($p = 0.034 < 0.05$) indicates that learners in the first experimental group who studied the course via virtual classes with the use of advance organizers outperformed their peers in the second experimental group who studied the course through virtual classes without the use of advance organizers.

To ascertain this result, Eta Square (η^2) was used to make sure of the effect size of the virtual classes where advance organizers are used in writing research questions and hypotheses skills of students in the first experimental group. Findings showed that η^2 calculated significance was (0.379). That is, there was a significant effect of using advance organizers in virtual classrooms on the development of students' skills in stating research questions and hypotheses. Additionally, qualitative analysis of the learners' research proposals' content proved that participants in the first group were more worthy in isolating direct questions from logical ones, deciding the research questions to be answered, formulating probable answers for every question, splitting long or short questions, and writing research alternative and null hypotheses. In addition, participants in the first group were more worthy in recognizing hypotheses that are described quantitatively from those that can be tested descriptively in comparison with their peers' ability in the second group.

With regard to the fourth domain, table 2 indicates that the t. value for the difference between the modified gain ratios of participants in both groups regarding the skills of research procedures and experimentation was (5.40). It shows that the mean score of students in the first experimental group was (M=17.06), whereas it was (M=14.70) for their mates in the second experimental group. In other words, a statistically significant difference was noticed between participants in both groups regarding their skills in research procedures and experimentation in favor of first experimental group students. This difference ($p = 0.046 < 0.05$) indicates that learners in the first experimental group who studied the course via virtual classes with the use of advance organizers outperformed their peers in the second experimental group who studied the course through virtual classes without the use of advance organizers.

To be sure, of this result, Eta Square (η^2) was used to make sure of the effect size of the virtual classes where advance organizers are used in research procedures and experimentation skills of students in the first experimental group. Findings showed that η^2 calculated significance was (0.352), which means that there was a significant effect of using advance organizers in virtual classrooms on the development of students' skills in research procedures and experimentation. Besides, qualitative analysis of the learners' research proposals' content proved that participants in the first group were more worthy in identifying proposed experimental design, describing sampling type and technique, concluding results in a short time, and using appropriate equipment; in comparison with their peers' ability in the second group.

Comment[Author33]: Again, thematic analysis doesn't evaluate content, it states what themes researchers talk about. You would need to then set out how you were evaluating learners' work based on these themes. This would be an unusual approach but could work if you were to expand upon and justify these methods.

Deleted[Author]: ,

With regard to findings related to the last domain, table 2 shows that t. value for the difference between the modified gain ratios of participants in both groups regarding the skills the interpretation of the research's results was (3.457). It shows that the mean score of students in the first experimental group was (M=11.49), but it was (M=10.09) for their colleagues in the second experimental group. That is, a statistically important difference was found between participants in both groups regarding their skills in research results interpretation in favor of the first experimental group students. This difference ($p = 0.043 < 0.05$) indicates that learners in the first experimental group who studied the course via virtual classes with the use of advance organizers outperformed their peers in the second experimental group who studied the course through virtual classes without the use of advance organizers.

To test the correctness of this result, Eta Square (η^2) was used to make sure of the effect size of the virtual classes where advance organizers are used in the interpretation of research results skills of students in the first experimental group. Findings showed that η^2 calculated significance was (0.344), showing that a significant effect of using advance organizers in virtual classrooms on the development of students' skills in research results interpretation was found. In addition, qualitative analysis of the learners' research proposals' content proved that participants in the first group were more worthy in including answer of research in a prior research related to research chosen topic, processing results or data, identifying relevant principles, and laws or theoretical frameworks; in comparison with their peers' ability in the second group.

Moreover, finding in table 2 show that t. value for the difference between the skills of participants in both groups related to the evaluation card as a whole was (10.608). The mean score of students' achievement in the first group was (M=74.19), in comparison with their peers' achievement in the second group that was (M=62.59). To say it differently, there was a statistically significant difference between the mastery levels of students' integrative science process skills in both groups as a whole in favor of the first group. The difference that was ($p = 0.036 < 0.05$) shows that skills of students who studied the course content through the use of advance organizers in the virtual classes were developed more than the skills of their mates in the second experimental group who studied the course content via virtual classes but without the use of advance organizers.

To be certain whether this result is correct or not, (η^2) was used to determine the effect size of advance organizers in virtual classes in the learners' integrated science process skills as a whole. Findings prove that the calculated significance of (η^2) for the difference between participants' modified gain ratios in both groups was (0.395). Therefore, it can be argued that utilization of advance organizers in virtual classes have an impact on the development of students' integrated science process skills as a whole.

Discussion

The main aim of the present study was to investigate the effect of using advance organizers in virtual classrooms on the enhancement of the integrative science process skills of students enrolled in "Research Project" course at Najran University. Analysis of data collected via the use of an evaluation card shows that there is a significant effect of these advance organizers use in the development of participants' skills in all tested skills and subskills. These findings corroborate the results concluded by earlier studies regarding the effect of using advance organizers in the achievement of

Comment[Author34]: I would condense both the reporting of the findings and their checking to one paragraph, as the reporting of results is a little long-winded for the depth of content actually contained. I'd cut back a little on word count here if possible and save it for more discussion of results below.

Comment[Author35]: An apt conclusion based on an accurate interpretation of the results.

Deleted[Author]: ed

Deleted[Author]: wa

different learning outcomes. Among these studies was Birabil [48], which concluded that advance organizers-based teaching strategy could improve learners' academic achievement and retention. Results also support the results by Babaei, Izadpanah [35] that proved the effectiveness of advance organizers in improving students' listening comprehension. They are congruent with the results of Van der Meij [14], which confirmed the effectiveness of advance organizers included in educational videos in developing students' programming skills. moreover, results are in agreement with the findings of Nevisi, Hosseinpour [36] with regard to the effectiveness of advance organizers in developing learners' ability to write an English abstract and Susan and Oche [37] regarding the impact of advance organizers on the development of students' attitude towards biology.

Effectiveness of other methods and strategies in developing learners' integrative science process skills was also verified. Sharma [38], for an example concluded that the use of the seven-stage educational model (7E) was effective in developing the 9th graders' integrative science process skills. Harahap, Nasution [39] also asserted the efficacy of blended learning approach in fostering students' science process abilities during plant tissue culture. furthermore, Prayitno, Corebima [40] confirmed the efficiency of inquiry-based in developing 7th graders' science process skills.

Conclusion and Recommendations

In the present study, advance organizers, through virtual classrooms attached to Blackboard system provided by Najran University were used to teach students the content of an academic course titled "Research Project". Results indicated that advance organizers were of great effect on enhancing the integrative science process skills mainly the research skills of enrolled students. In light of these findings, it can be claimed that advance organizers utilization in virtual classrooms could be advantageous for students and can develop the processes of instruction and research as well. Therefore, institution of higher education are called to train enrolled faculty members on how to use such advance organizers in virtual classrooms using the allowed learning management environments. Besides, faculty members, in their turn, are encouraged to use advance organizers in their virtual classrooms to improve their learners' skills in various subjects. Researchers, for their part, are recommended to investigate the effect of using advance organizers in other educational contexts in developing different educational outcomes.

REFERENCES

1. Elbyaly, M.Y.H. and A.I.M. Elfeky, *The role of metacognition in promoting deep learning in MOOCs during COVID-19 pandemic*. PeerJ Computer Science, 2022. **8**: p. e945.
2. Basilaia, G. and D. Kvavadze, *Transition to online education in schools during a SARS-CoV-2 coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic in Georgia*. Pedagogical Research, 2020. **5**(4).
3. Fitton, I.S., D.J. Finnegan, and M.J. Proulx, *Immersive virtual environments and embodied agents for e-learning applications*. PeerJ Computer Science, 2020. **6**: p. e315.
4. Elbourhamy, D.M., A.H. Najmi, and A.I.M. Elfeky, *Students' performance in interactive environments: an intelligent model*. PeerJ Computer Science, 2023. **9**: p. e1348.
5. Elbyaly, M.Y.H. and A.I.M. Elfeky, *The effectiveness of a program based on augmented reality on enhancing the skills of solving complex problems among*

Comment[Author36]: You need more discussion of findings here to demonstrate critical engagement with your results and those of prior research. Developing your research gap and rationale further will help you find more to say here.

Comment[Author37]: I see now why you included this section above. In what way does this finding corroborate the 7E model? Was the 7E model used to develop your cards in some way? This is unclear.

Comment[Author38]: How does this corroborate those findings when the study is with university students rather than secondary-school students?

Comment[Author39]: This is the first we're mentioning training. It hasn't been established whether that AOs are already a component of teacher-training or CPD, or whether current training in this area is insufficient. It might be better to say that institutions of higher education would benefit from quality teacher-training in this area and that future research ought to establish how sufficient this training in KSA is.

Deleted[Author]: on the other part

Comment[Author40]: These are fine recommendations, it may be worth developing them slightly further in the discussion above.

- students of the Optimal Investment Diploma. Ann. For. Res, 2023. **66**(1): p. 1569-1583.
6. Elfeky and Elbyaly, *THE IMPACT OF AUGMENTED REALITY TECHNOLOGY ON DEVELOPING HAND EMBROIDERY SKILLS AMONG STUDENTS OF THE COLLEGE OF EDUCATION*. Ann. For. Res, 2023. **66**(1): p. 1584-1594.
 7. Ricolfi, A.T., *Virtual classes and virtual motives of Quot schemes on threefolds*. Advances in Mathematics, 2020. **369**: p. 107182.
 8. Far, I.K., M. Ferron, and F. Ibarra, *The interplay of physical and social wellbeing in older adults: investigating the relationship between physical training and social interactions with virtual social environments*. PeerJ Computer Science, 2015. **1**: p. e30.
 9. Ruthotto, I., Q. Kretz, and J. Stevens, *Lurking and participation in the virtual classroom: The effects of gender, race, and age among graduate students in computer science*. Computers & Education, 2020. **151**: p. 103854.
 10. Ahmed, E.S.A.H., S.M. Alharbi, and A.I. Elfeky, *Effectiveness of a proposed training program in developing twenty-first century skills and creative teaching skills among female student teachers, specializing in early childhood*. Journal of Positive School Psychology, 2022: p. 4316-4330.
 11. Capuccini, M., A. Larsson, and M. Carone, *On-demand virtual research environments using microservices*. PeerJ Computer Science, 2019. **5**: p. e232.
 12. Suwais, K. and A. Alshahrani, *The Impact of Virtual Classes on Students' Performance in Open Learning Environments: The Case of Arab Open University, Saudi Arabia*. J. Comput. Sci., 2018. **14**(1): p. 14-22.
 13. Elbyaly, M. and E. El-Fawakhry, *Online teaching course to develop STUDENTS' CREATIVITY in handmade embroidery*. British Journal of Education, 2016. **4**(13): p. 30-51.
 14. Van der Meij, H., *Advance organizers in videos for software training of Chinese students*. British journal of educational technology, 2019. **50**(3): p. 1368-1380.
 15. Nisyah, M., G. Gunawan, and A. Harjono. *Inquiry learning model with advance organizers to improve students' understanding on physics concepts*. in *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*. 2020.
 16. Men, L., N. Bryan-Kinns, and L. Bryce, *Designing spaces to support collaborative creativity in shared virtual environments*. PeerJ Computer Science, 2019. **5**: p. e229.
 17. Han-Chin, L. and C. Hsueh-Hua. *Investigations of the Effect of Format of Advance Organizers on Learners' Achievement on Understanding of Science Concepts*. in *2017 6th IIAI International Congress on Advanced Applied Informatics (IIAI-AAI)*. 2017. IEEE.
 18. Zheng, R.Z., W. Yang, and D. Garcia, *Effects of multimedia and schema induced analogical reasoning on science learning*. Journal of computer assisted learning, 2008. **24**(6): p. 474-482.
 19. Masada, T.S.Y., *Immediate versus delayed feedback in promoting student teachers skills for lesson plan implementation*. Thouqan Saleem Yakoub Masadeh and Abdellah Ibrahim Mohammed Elfeky (2017) Immediate Versus Delayed Feedback in Promoting Student Teachers Skills for Lesson Plan Implementation, British Journal of Education, 2017. **5**(8): p. 43-58.
 20. McDonald, D. and R. Vines, *Flipping Advanced Organizers Into an Individualized Meaning-Making Learning Process Through Sketching*. Teaching Artist Journal, 2019. **17**(1-2): p. 51-61.
 21. Elfeky and Elbyaly, *The use of data analytics technique in learning management system to develop fashion design skills and technology acceptance*. Interactive Learning Environments, 2021: p. 1-18.

22. Chan, J.R. and M.P.E. Morales, *Investigating The Effects Of Customized Cognitive Fitness Classroom On Students Physics Achievement And Integrated Science Process Skills*. International Journal of Research Studies in Education, 2017. **6**(3): p. 81-95.
23. Alshammary, F.M. and W.S. Alhalafawy, *Digital Platforms and the Improvement of Learning Outcomes: Evidence Extracted from Meta-Analysis*. Sustainability, 2023. **15**(2): p. 1305.
24. Alzahrani, F.K. and W.S. Alhalafawy, *Gamification for Learning Sustainability in the Blackboard System: Motivators and Obstacles from Faculty Members' Perspectives*. Sustainability, 2023. **15**(5): p. 4613.
25. Elbyaly and Elfeky, *The role of metacognition in promoting deep learning in MOOCs during COVID-19 pandemic*. PeerJ Computer Science, 2022. **8**: p. e945.
26. Sermsirikarnjana, P., K. Kiddee, and P. Pupat. *An integrated science process skills needs assessment analysis for Thai vocational students and teachers*. in *Asia-Pacific Forum on Science Learning and Teaching*. 2017. The Education University of Hong Kong, Department of Science and
27. Duruk, U., A. Akgün, and C. Dogan, *Examining the Learning Outcomes Included in the Turkish Science Curriculum in Terms of Science Process Skills: A Document Analysis with Standards-Based Assessment*. International Journal of Environmental and Science Education, 2017. **12**(2): p. 117-142.
28. Najmi, A.H., W.S. Alhalafawy, and M.Z.T. Zaki, *Developing a Sustainable Environment Based on Augmented Reality to Educate Adolescents about the Dangers of Electronic Gaming Addiction*. Sustainability, 2023. **15**(4): p. 3185.
29. Yumusak, G.K., *Science Process Skills in Science Curricula Applied in Turkey*. Journal of education and practice, 2016. **7**(20): p. 94-98.
30. Alanzi, N.S.A. and W.S. Alhalafawy, *A Proposed Model for Employing Digital Platforms in Developing the Motivation for Achievement Among Students of Higher Education During Emergencies*. Journal of Positive School Psychology, 2022. **6**(9): p. 4921-4933.
31. Alzahrani, Alshammary, and Alhalafawy, *Gamified Platforms: The Impact of Digital Incentives on Engagement in Learning During Covide-19 Pandemic*. Cult. Manag. Sci. Educ, 2022. **7**: p. 75-87.
32. Popova, A., P.A. Kirschner, and R. Joiner, *Effects of primer podcasts on stimulating learning from lectures: how do students engage?* British Journal of Educational Technology, 2014. **45**(2): p. 330-339.
33. Elfeky, Alharbi, and Ahmed, *The Effect Of Project-Based Learning In Enhancing Creativity And Skills Of Arts Among Kindergarten Student Teachers*. Journal of Positive School Psychology, 2022. **6**(8): p. 2182-2191.
34. Almalki, A.D.A. and A.I.M. Elfeky, *The Effect of Immediate and Delayed Feedback in Virtual Classes on Mathematics Students' Higher Order Thinking Skills*. Journal of Positive School Psychology, 2022: p. 432-440-432-440.
35. Babaei, S., S. Izadpanah, and G.C. Araújo, *Comparing the effects of different advance organizers on EFL learners' listening comprehension: Key vocabularies, previewing comprehension questions, and multimedia annotations*. Cogent Education, 2019. **6**(1): p. 1705666.
36. Nevisi, R.B., R.M. Hosseinpour, and R. Kolahkaj, *The Impact of Marginal Glosses and Network Tree Advance Organizers on EFL Learners' Summary Writing Ability*. Journal of Asia TEFL, 2019. **16**(4): p. 1168.
37. Susan, U.E. and O.D. Oche, *Effect of Advance Organizer on Senior Secondary Students' Interest in Biology in Makurdi Metropolis*. ATBU Journal of Science, Technology and Education, 2018. **6**(3): p. 18-26.

38. Sharma, S., *Fostering the integrated science process skills among secondary school students through 7E learning instructional model*. Studies in Indian Place Names, 2020. **40**(40): p. 2100-2109.
39. Harahap, F., N.E.A. Nasution, and B. Manurung, *The Effect of Blended Learning on Student's Learning Achievement and Science Process Skills in Plant Tissue Culture Course*. International Journal of Instruction, 2019. **12**(1): p. 521-538.
40. Prayitno, B.A., D. Corebima, and H. Susilo, *Closing the science process skills gap between students with high and low level academic achievement*. Journal of Baltic Science Education, 2017. **16**(2): p. 266.
41. Lo, N.P.K. and B.K.H. To, *The transformation of identity of secondary school teachers: Professional development and English language education strategies in Hong Kong during the COVID-19 pandemic*. Cogent Education, 2023. **10**(1): p. 2163790.
42. Lo, N.P.-k. and B.K.-h. To, *To Learn or Not to Learn: Perceptions Towards Continuing Professional Development (CPD) and Self-identity Among English Language Teachers During the COVID-19 Pandemic*. SN Computer Science, 2023. **4**(3): p. 317.
43. Lo, N.P.-k., *Digital learning and the ESL online classroom in higher education: teachers' perspectives*. Asian-Pacific Journal of Second and Foreign Language Education, 2023. **8**(1): p. 1-22.
44. Elfeky and Elbyaly, *The use of CSCL environment to promote students' achievement and skills in handmade embroidery*. European Journal of Training and Development Studies, 2017. **4**(2): p. 19-32.
45. Hernawati, D., M. Amin, and M. Irawati, *The effectiveness of scientific approach using encyclopedia as learning materials in improving students' science process skills in science*. Jurnal Pendidikan IPA Indonesia, 2018. **7**(3): p. 266-272.
46. Juhji, J. and P. Nuangchalerm, *Interaction between science process skills and scientific attitudes of students towards technological pedagogical content knowledge*. Journal for the Education of Gifted Young Scientists, 2020. **8**(1): p. 1-16.
47. Elfeky and Elbyaly, *The impact of learning object repository (lor) in the development of pattern making skills of home economics students*. British Journal of Education, 2016. **4**(2): p. 87-99.
48. Birabil, S.T., *EFFECTS OF ADVANCE ORGANIZERS TEACHING STRATEGY ON HEARING IMPAIRED STUDENTS' ACHIEVEMENT AND RETENTION IN SOCIAL STUDIES IN RIVERS STATE*. European Journal of Research and Reflection in Educational Sciences Vol, 2020. **8**(4).